State of Washington
 Court of Appeals, Div. III
 500 N. Cedar Street
 Spokane, WA 99201

PRINT ORDER DATE: _____
 Printing/Binding Briefs
20# White Bond, 2 Sided, Thermal Bound

Attorney/Pro Se (full name) (If indigent (OPD) do not need attorneys name-just OPD)	Case No.	Case Type No. Do not send sealed, confidential, or type 5, 6, and 7 cases
OPD	302261	<u>1</u>

Case Name (Short CaseTitle) St. of WA v. Thomas Michael Klindworth	Quantity 5
PDF Name: Case #, Abbrev., [Party Name <u>if</u> more than one] 302261 APP	

CHECK BOX	<u>XX</u>							
COLOR	<u>GRAY</u>	GREEN	BLUE	TAN	LILAC	ORANGE	YELLOW	RED
BRIEF TYPE (delete extras)	<u>APP</u> PET	RSP CAP	APR PRB CRE	RER	APS AMI	RSB AMA	SAG

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Thomas M. Klindworth's time-for-trial rights, along with his constitutional right to a speedy trial, were violated.

2. The trial court deprived Mr. Klindworth of his constitutional right to present a defense.

3. The trial court's failure to suppress the blood test results is contrary to *State v. Dunivin*, 65 Wn. App. 501, 828 P.2d 1150 (1992); *State v. Anderson*, 80 Wn. App. 384, 909 P.2d 945 (1996); and *State v. McNichols*, 128 Wn.2d 242, 906 P.2d 329 (1995).

4. A. Mr. Klindworth's constitutional rights were impaired by an improper evidentiary discussion with the jury present.

B. An improper comment on Mr. Klindworth's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent occurred during Sgt. Dickenson's testimony.

5. Mr. Klindworth's constitutional right to proceed *pro se* was not scrupulously honored by the trial court.

6. Failure to grant Mr. Klindworth's CrR 8.3(b) motion was error.

7. The trial court improperly imposed an ignition interlock device (IID) requirement in the Judgment and Sentence.

ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did a time-for-trial violation occur under CrR 3.3?

2. Was Mr. Klindworth denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial?

3. Did the trial court's pre-trial rulings concerning the blood tests deprive Mr. Klindworth of his right to present a defense?

4. Should the blood test results have been suppressed when the third vial of blood was left at the hospital and Mr. Klindworth was deprived of the opportunity to have it tested?

5. Was Mr. Klindworth's right to a fair trial impacted by an evidentiary discussion concerning his constitutional rights and a comment by an officer on his refusal to answer questions?

6. Did the trial court deprive Mr. Klindworth of his constitutional right to self-representation?

7. Should the case have been dismissed for prosecutorial mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b)?

8. Does a trial court have authority to impose an IID requirement for driving while under the influence of drugs?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Sgt. Dickenson of the Franklin County Sheriff's Office was on routine patrol on January 21, 2007. He saw a car traveling sixty (60) miles per hour in a seventy (70) mile per hour zone near Road 68, I-182 east-bound. It was 1:50 a.m. He followed the car at a distance of approximate-

ly three (3) car lengths in his unmarked patrol car. (Munoz RP 907, ll. 9-11; RP 909, ll. 3-14; ll. 20-24)

According to Sgt. Dickenson the car suddenly swerved into his lane and slammed on its brakes. The car slowed to thirty (30) miles per hour and began to pull to the shoulder of the highway. The Sgt. activated the lights on his patrol car. (Munoz RP 910, ll. 11-23)

Mr. Klindworth was the driver of the car. The Sgt. believed he smelled the odor of burnt methamphetamine when he approached the car. He described Mr. Klindworth as having red eyes, slurred speech, talkative, nervous and fidgety, with fast and deliberate movements. Mr. Klindworth did not have a problem getting out of his car. He followed the Sgt.'s instructions. (Munoz RP 912, ll. 20-25; RP 914, ll. 6-9; RP 916, ll. 9-14; RP 952, l. 15 to RP 953, l. 14)

The Sgt. did not detect any odor of intoxicants. Both Sgt. Dickenson and Cpl. Buntun noted a chemical odor on or about Mr. Klindworth's person. He arrested Mr. Klindworth for driving while under the influence of drugs (DUI). (Munoz RP 917, ll. 18-22; RP 932, ll. 17-19; RP 982, ll. 4-6; RP 989, ll. 17-19)

Mr. Klindworth consented to a blood draw after having been read his implied consent warnings. He requested an additional test as authorized by the implied consent warnings. Three (3) vials of blood were drawn at Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital. Sgt. Dickenson refused to drive Mr. Klindworth to another hospital for a separate blood draw. (Munoz RP

938, ll. 13-15; RP 942, ll. 14-24; RP 943, ll. 5-6; ll. 18-25; RP 955, l. 8 to RP 956, l. 5; Exhibit 9)

Mr. Klindworth was transported to the Franklin County Jail and booked. He declined to be evaluated by a drug recognition expert (DRE). Sgt. Dickenson left the third vial of blood at the hospital. It was his position that it was Mr. Klindworth's responsibility to retrieve it. During the booking process Mr. Klindworth became sluggish, non-talkative and fell asleep. (Munoz RP 940, ll. 1-7; RP 941, ll. 1-15; RP 944, l. 1; RP 947, ll. 16-18; RP 948, ll. 2-10)

Mr. Klindworth appeared in Superior Court on January 22, 2007 for a preliminary appearance. Charges were eventually filed in Franklin County District Court on January 25, 2007. They were later dismissed on March 22, 2007. An Information was filed in Superior Court on March 16, 2007. Mr. Klindworth was charged with one (1) count of unlawful possession of a controlled substance (suboxone); use of drug paraphernalia; driving while under the influence of drugs; reckless driving and negligent driving first degree. (CP 42; CP 347; Munoz RP 31, ll. 19-21; RP 32, ll. 6-8; ll. 16-19)

Mr. Klindworth was arraigned on March 20, 2007. Attorney Sam Swanberg was appointed to represent him. His jury trial was scheduled for June 6, 2007. (CP 341; McLaughlin RP 5, ll. 6-7)

On May 8, 2007 Mr. Klindworth challenged his time-for-trial and made a request to proceed *pro se*. The Court continued the matter for one

(1) week to May 15, 2007. Mr. Klindworth did not appear, His jury trial date was stricken. (Pelletier RP 5, ll. 10-15; RP 5, l. 21 to RP 6, l. 2; RP 15, ll. 12-16)

Mr. Klindworth appeared on May 22, 2007. The time-for-trial issue was again presented to the Court. He made a further request to proceed *pro se*. His jury trial was rescheduled to August 8, 2007. (Pelletier RP 20, ll. 18-19; RP 27, ll. 11-13; RP 34, l. 12)

An Amended Information was filed on June 6, 2007. Mr. Klindworth was now charged with two (2) counts of unlawful possession of a controlled substance. The other counts remained the same. Attorney Swanberg was removed at Mr. Klindworth's request. Mr. Klindworth stated that he had "no other choice" but to proceed *pro se*. The trial court conducted a colloquy and authorized Mr. Klindworth to represent himself. (CP 339; Adams RP 7, l. 4 to RP 13, l. 25; RP 17, ll. 8-10)

An Omnibus Hearing was conducted on June 26, 2007. Mr. Klindworth requested representation. The trial court advised him it would appoint an attorney to represent him. He stated he was going to try to hire an attorney. (Adams RP 35, l. 14 to RP 38, l. 12; RP 39, ll. 1-24)

Mr. Klindworth did not appear at a hearing scheduled on July 17, 2007. The jury trial date was stricken and a bench warrant was issued. (CP 338; Munoz RP 6, ll. 12-24)

Mr. Klindworth appeared on July 18, 2007. He had been in the wrong courtroom the previous day. He was arrested in that courtroom.

The Court and Mr. Klindworth discussed appointment of an attorney. Attorney Matt Rutt was appointed to represent Mr. Klindworth. Mr. Klindworth was released on his own recognizance. (CP 337; King RP 3, l. 23 to RP 4, l. 13; RP 5, ll. 19-22; RP 6, l. 1)

On July 23, 2007 Mr. Klindworth filed multiple motions seeking dismissal of the charges. (CP 314; CP 316; CP 318; CP 320; CP 322; CP 324; CP 327; CP 327; CP 329; CP 331; CP 333; CP 335)

Mr. Klindworth made a required appearance on July 24, 2007. The time-for-trial issue was again raised. He requested the opportunity to proceed *pro se*. A colloquy was conducted and Mr. Klindworth was authorized to represent himself. His jury trial was rescheduled to October 3, 2007. (King RP 12, l. 16 to RP 17, l. 19; RP 19, l. 19 to RP 20, l. 3; RP 21, ll. 2-8; RP 29, ll. 20-23; RP 30, ll. 13-16)

A CrR 3.5 hearing was conducted on August 7, 2007. The trial court ruled that Mr. Klindworth's statements were admissible. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered on August 14, 2007. (CP 312; Lang RP 45, ll. 13-15)

On August 14, 2007 Mr. Klindworth again filed multiple motions for dismissal and discovery. The motions included a request for a new attorney and challenged time-for-trial. (CP 280; CP 282; CP 284; CP 286; CP 288; CP 290; CP 291; CP 295; CP 296; CP 306; CP 308; CP 310)

On September 25, 2007 the prosecuting attorney advised Mr. Klindworth that his case had been pre-assigned to Judge Yule. A pre-trial

hearing was scheduled the next day. Mr. Klindworth appeared on September 26, 2007 and again challenged time-for-trial. No specific date had yet been set for hearing Mr. Klindworth's motions. (King RP 33, ll. 3-10; Munoz RP 9, l. 21 to RP 13, l. 18)

On September 26 Mr. Klindworth was advised that his motions would be reset by the Court Administrator. They were subsequently re-scheduled to October 2, 2007. Notice of the hearing was mailed to Mr. Klindworth on September 28, 2007. Patricia Austin, the Superior Court Administrator for Benton/Franklin County, claims that she told Mr. Klindworth of the October 2 date in a telephone call on September 26, 2007. (Supp. CP 419; Supp. CP 420; Munoz RP 14, ll. 17-21; RP 78, ll. 8-12; RP 80, ll. 3-17)

Mr. Klindworth did not appear on October 2, 2007. The jury trial was stricken and a bench warrant issued. Mr. Klindworth posted a bail bond on October 5, 2007. The bond was exonerated on October 26, 2007. (CP 263; CP 268; CP 270; Munoz RP 20, ll. 21-23)

On October 16, 2007 Mr. Klindworth appeared in court. A new conditional release order was entered. A motion to quash bench warrant was argued. Mr. Klindworth claimed that he did not receive notice of the October 2 hearing until on or about October 4, 2007. The motion to quash the bench warrant was denied. The trial court ruled that he failed to appear on October 2 and also failed to appear for trial on October 3, 2007.

Bail was set at \$10,000.00. (CP 261; Adams RP 42, ll. 20-24; RP 44, l. 20-24; RP 48, ll. 20-22; RP 49, ll. 15-23; RP 52, ll. 3-4; RP 50, ll. 2-10)

Mr. Klindworth's jury trial was rescheduled to December 5, 2007. He filed a motion challenging time-for-trial on October 30, 2007. He remained in custody at that time. (CP 260; Munoz RP 23, ll. 11-12; RP 24, l. 2 to RP 25, l. 23; RP 27, ll. 1-4)

Mr. Klindworth posted a bail bond on November 19, 2007. (CP 257)

The time-for-trial motion was argued on November 30, 2007. The prosecuting attorney presented a chronology of events from Mr. Klindworth's initial appearance in Superior Court, through the District Court proceedings, and up to the November 30 date. The trial court ruled that there had been no violation up to and including June 6, 2007. (Munoz RP 35, ll. 5-7; ll. 20-25; RP 36, ll. 9-11; RP 45, ll. 8-11; RP 51, l. 21 to RP 55, l. 8)

Following additional argument the trial court then ruled that there had been no violation of time-for-trial up to November 30, 2007. (Munoz RP 69, l. 2 to RP 70, l. 14; RP 72, ll. 10-22; RP 94, l. 20 to RP 97, l. 24)

Mr. Klindworth requested appointment of an attorney. The trial court denied the request. Mr. Klindworth withdrew his remaining motions until he was appointed an attorney. (Munoz RP 100, ll. 4-17; RP 124, l. 2 to RP 124, l. 25; RP 125, ll. 16-20; RP 127, ll. 16-23; RP 131, ll. 2-83; RP 132, ll. 10-13; RP 133, ll. 1-2)

At the pre-trial hearing on December 4, 2007 Mr. Klindworth requested a continuance to hire an attorney. The trial court granted a continuance to December 31, 2007. Mr. Klindworth appeared on December 31 without counsel. The trial court denied a further continuance. (Lang RP 54, ll. 1-18; RP 80, ll. 12-21)

On January 9, 2008 Mr. Klindworth appeared and was unprepared for trial. He did not have an attorney. He asked for standby counsel if trial was going to proceed that day. The trial court sent the jurors home and adjourned until the afternoon session to allow Mr. Klindworth additional time to contact an attorney. The trial was rescheduled to February 6, 2008 at Mr. Klindworth's request. (Munoz RP 167, ll. 2-22; RP 172, l. 1-13; RP 177, ll. 8-19; RP 195, ll. 13-18)

On January 22, 2008 Mr. Klindworth and the Court engaged in a colloquy concerning hiring an attorney. He again raised a time-for-trial issue. The trial court told Mr. Klindworth he could either proceed *pro se* or accept a court-appointed attorney. The option of retaining an attorney was removed. Mr. Klindworth declined to choose. He argued against a court-appointed attorney. The trial court directed that he was to proceed *pro se*. (Lang RP 83, l. 14 to RP 85, l. 25; RP 89, ll. 17-23; RP 90, ll. 12-25; RP 92, l. 13 to RP 97, l. 7)

On January 29, 2008 Mr. Klindworth made oral motions to change venue and dismiss for a violation of his time-for-trial right. He again requested time to retain counsel. All requests were denied. Mr. Klindworth

stated he was being forced to decide on court-appointed counsel and that he could not make a decision. (King RP 36, ll. 1-15; RP 50, l. 7 to RP 52, l. 5; RP 62, ll. 2-6; RP 62, l. 17 to RP 66, l. 13)

A written request for an attorney was filed on February 6, 2008. Mr. Klindworth appeared and again requested representation. The time-for-trial issue was also raised. Attorney Robert Thompson was appointed to represent Mr. Klindworth. (CP 252; Adams RP 56, ll. 2-20; RP 67, ll. 4-10; RP 82, ll. 13-14; RP 82, l. 22 to RP 83, l. 10; RP 86, ll. 13-17; RP 88, ll. 9-13; RP 89, ll. 13-15)

Numerous waivers were filed while attorney Thompson represented Mr. Klindworth. Mr. Klindworth reserved the right to continue to challenge time-for-trial occurring prior to entry of those waivers. (CP 221; CP 223; CP 232; CP 251; Munoz RP 201, l. 10 to RP 202, l. 3)

A CrR 3.6 hearing began on July 29, 2008. It concluded on August 20, 2008 following a stipulated continuance. The trial court suppressed all evidence seized from Mr. Klindworth's car on January 21, 2007. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered on October 29, 2008. (CP 224; King RP 73, l. 23 to RP 130, l. 2; RP 133, l. 20 to RP 203, l. 17; RP 232, l. 9 to RP 233, l. 8; RP 234, ll. 13-19)

On December 2, 2008 attorney Thompson advised the Court that Mr. Klindworth was in treatment. A waiver was subsequently signed on January 6, 2009. A problem arose when attorney Thompson advised the Court that he was no longer on the public defender contract. A request

was made for appointment of attorney Karla Kane. Various hearings were held concerning attorney Thompson's status until attorney Kane was appointed. (King RP 240, ll. 5-9; Adams RP 92, ll. 11-24; RP 95, ll. 18-24; Munoz RP 243, ll. 4-11; RP 255, ll. 6-9; RP 262, ll. 1-3)

Mr. Klindworth's jury trial was rescheduled to March 25, 2009 following the appointment of attorney Kane. He did not appear on March 17, 2009 because he was in custody in Benton County. On March 24, 2009 he signed a waiver of time-for-trial reserving his right to challenge any prior delays. Mr. Klindworth's jury trial was rescheduled to May 27, 2009. (CP 220; Munoz RP 262, ll. 1-3; RP 264, ll. 10-11; RP 268, ll. 1-4; RP 270, ll. 11-12; RP 270, l. 22 to RP 271, l. 9; RP 271, l. 12)

Attorney Kane requested a continuance of the trial date on April 28, 2009. Mr. Klindworth objected on the basis of time-for-trial. He also made a request to proceed *pro se*. (Adams RP 98, ll. 17-18; RP 99, l. 15 to RP 100, l. 21; RP 101, ll. 19-24)

At an appearance on May 25, 2009 Mr. Klindworth renewed his time-for-trial challenge and his *pro se* request. He wanted attorney Kane as standby counsel only. The trial court conducted a colloquy and authorized Mr. Klindworth to proceed *pro se*. Attorney Kane was appointed standby counsel. His jury trial was continued to June 24, 2009. (Munoz RP 276, l. 1 to RP 278, l. 9; RP 279, l. 5 to RP 288, l. 20; RP 292, ll. 22-25)

Mr. Klindworth did not appear for a scheduled hearing on May 29, 2009. No bench warrant was issued. (Munoz RP 304, ll. 21-24)

Mr. Klindworth raised his constitutional right to a speedy trial at a hearing on June 11, 2009. The trial court ruled that time-for-trial had recommenced on May 5, 2009. (Munoz RP 325, ll. 2-20; RP 327, ll. 14-19)

On July 17, 2009 Mr. Klindworth filed a letter with the Court requesting an attorney other than attorney Kane. The trial court confronted Mr. Klindworth with his lack of diligence. Attorney Kane was reappointed to represent him. She requested that trial be set within time-for-trial rules. The jury trial was rescheduled to October 7, 2009. (CP 215; CP 217; Munoz RP 337, l. 25 to RP 347, l. 14; RP 352, ll. 7-17; RP 355, l. 11)

Mr. Klindworth did not appear for scheduled hearings on September 18, 2009 and October 22, 2009. (King RP 241, l. 8 to RP 242, l. 25; Munoz RP 371, ll. 7-19; RP 372, ll. 17-25)

A stipulated continuance as to the trial date was granted on November 3, 2009. The new jury trial date was January 20, 2010. (Adams RP 106, ll. 3-4)

A CrR 3.3 motion and a CrR 8.3(b) motion were filed on December 1, 2009. The motions were argued on December 23, 2009. The testimony reflected that notice of the October 2, 2007 hearing was mailed to Mr. Klindworth on September 27, 2007. Court Administrator Austin confirmed her telephone call with Mr. Klindworth. However, there was nothing noted in the Clerk's minutes for September 26 concerning an October

2 pre-trial. The trial court denied the CrR 3.3 motion. (CP 185; Munoz RP 396, l. 21 to RP 407, l. 15; RP 455, l. 11 to RP 459, l. 21; RP 480, l. 15 to RP 481, l. 22)

The trial court also denied Mr. Klindworth's CrR 8.3(b) motion on the basis that he had failed to re-note his various motions and that he seemed delusional. He would appear in Court without any documents to support his claims. (Munoz RP 481, l. 23 to RP 483, l. 18)

Mr. Klindworth made a further challenge, at that hearing, to the driving while under the influence statute on the basis that it was void for vagueness. He contended it did not include standards for driving while under the influence of drugs. The motion was denied. (Munoz RP 468, l. to RP 469, l. 17; RP 483, l. 19 to RP 484, l. 4)

Mr. Klindworth filed a letter with the Court that same date relating to his various motions and the denial of an additional blood test. (CP 142)

On January 5, 2010 Mr. Klindworth again waived his time-for-trial rights, reserving the challenges on his previous motions. His jury trial was continued to March 10, 2010. (CP 140; Munoz RP 491, ll. 12-19)

Mr. Klindworth requested removal of attorney Kane at a hearing on March 2, 2010. He refused to talk with her and mentioned a letter that he had sent to the Court asking for a new attorney. The trial court denied his request. A discussion was had concerning the blood draw, the lack of an independent test, and chain of custody. Time-for-trial rights were again

reasserted. (Munoz RP 512, l. 16 to RP 514, l. 9; RP 516, l. 22 to RP 517, l. 17; RP 523, ll. 16-24; RP 525, ll. 8-16; RP 530, ll. 7-11)

Attorney Kane filed a Memorandum of Authorities on March 11, 2010 asking the Court to reconsider its denial of Mr. Klindworth's request to proceed *pro se*. Mr. Klindworth argued that the motions filed by attorney Kane weren't his. He wanted to file a new set of motions. He refused to communicate with his attorney. (CP 130; CP 135; Munoz RP 534, ll. 1-17; RP 535, ll. 7-25)

Attorney Kane argued the motions on March 16, 2010. The trial court ruled that there was probable cause to believe that Mr. Klindworth was driving under the influence of drugs. The Court also ruled that the stop was not pretextual. Attorney Kane requested that Mr. Klindworth's letters to the Court be filed. (Munoz RP 574, l. 10 to RP 580, l. 4; RP 582, l. 10 to RP 586, l. 7)

The jury trial was rescheduled to April 21, 2010 due to Sgt. Dickenson's medical condition. (Munoz RP 588, ll. 11-25; RP 594, ll. 12-14)

Mr. Klindworth again requested to represent himself on March 23, 2010. The trial court granted his request. Attorney Kane was appointed standby counsel. Mr. Klindworth signed a time-for-trial waiver. His jury trial was rescheduled to July 7, 2010. (CP 128; Lang RP 103, l. 2 to RP 113, l. 19; RP 116, ll. 2-23; RP 127, ll. 5-12; RP 131, ll. 1-7)

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