State of Washington
 Court of Appeals, Div. III
 500 N. Cedar Street
 Spokane, WA 99201

PRINT ORDER DATE: _____
 Printing/Binding Briefs
20# White Bond, 2 Sided, Thermal Bound

Attorney/Pro Se (full name) (If indigent (OPD) do not need attorneys name-just OPD)	Case No.	Case Type No. Do not send sealed, confidential, or type 5, 6, and 7 cases
Teresa Chen	302261	<u>1</u>

Case Name (Short CaseTitle) St. of WA v. Thomas Michael Klindworth	Quantity 5
PDF Name: Case #, Abbrev., [Party Name <u>if</u> more than one] 302261 RSP	

CHECK BOX		<u>XX</u>						
COLOR	GRAY	<u>GREEN</u>	BLUE	TAN	LILAC	ORANGE	YELLOW	RED

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE TIME FOR TRIAL RULES WERE NOT VIOLATED.

The Defendant claims three violations of the time for trial rules under CrR 3.3.

The **first claim** regards the issuance of a bench warrant on July 17, 2007, which resulted in a new commencement date of July 18, 2007. King RP 16-17. At the July 18th hearing, bail was set at \$5000, and the next hearing was scheduled for July 24 in order to reset dates. King RP 6, 16-1.

The Defendant rejects the commencement date of July 18 (and October trial date), which resulted from the July 17 failure to appear, but insists that the proper end date would have been August 20, i.e. 90 days after a May 22nd commencement date. Appellant's Brief at 25. It appears that his reasoning is that he does not think he was to blame for failing to appear. Appellant's Brief at 24 (claiming that state knew he was in the wrong courtroom "because the bailiff directed him to stay.") But, first, the rule only requires a failure to appear, which there was – as is apparent, because there was no hearing. And second, the bailiff only became aware of the Defendant's presence *after* the bench warrant had issued, which is why the bailiff required the Defendant to stay put in order that a sheriff could be summoned to arrest him on the warrant. There was no error in resetting dates after the failure to appear.

The second claim regards an alleged conflict between the local rule and CR 6(e). On September 26, 2007, the court administrator gave the Defendant oral notice of his October 2 court date. Adams RP 47. His failure to appear resulted in a bench warrant. The Defendant challenges the notice he received

regarding the pretrial hearing.

However, the Defendant also failed to appear at his trial on October 3, rendering his notice claim both not credible and irrelevant. Even if the bench warrant issued improperly on October 2, his dates would reset after his failure to appear on his trial date October 3, per CrR 3.3(c)(2)(ii) (resetting commencement date upon defendant's failure to appear at a proceeding where his presence was required).

The local criminal rule permits 72-hour notice of required hearings in cases where the defendant is on bail or recognizance. LCrR 3.2(a). The civil rule states that if a party has a right to respond to something served upon him, he shall have three days (excluding weekends and holidays) to respond after he is served with that matter to which he needs to respond. CR 6(e). The Defendant complains that the two rules conflict. They do not. The Defendant is arguing that he had three days (excluding weekends and holidays) from September 28 (when the court administrator mailed written notice of the pretrial date) to respond. But the communication of a court date is not a motion so as to be something to which a party has a right to respond. A party does not

need to prepare a response to the administrative scheduling of a hearing. The purpose of the hearing was not to debate the merits of the scheduling clerk, but to resolve pretrial issues. There was no error in resetting dates after the Defendant's failure to appear for pretrial and trial.

The third claim is that the Defendant did not have notice of the April 20, 2011 hearing, which resulted in a bench warrant. Appellant's Brief at 29. The Defendant told the trial court that his counsel left him a message through a friend communicating the hearing date, but he understood the date to be the 30th. McLaughlin RP 26. Whatever miscommunication there may or may not have been, the Defendant failed to appear after the correct date had been communicated to his counsel. This satisfies CrR 3.3. Note that the Defendant admitted on the record that he had been late on the 20th, which undercuts his claim that he did not know he had a hearing on that date. However, he also claimed that he appeared on the 20th only to be arrested (Munoz RP 776), a claim that is inconsistent with the record and suggests that the Defendant's poor memory of events is the true culprit behind his failing to appear.

There was no violation of the time for trial rule. The dates were properly reset after the Defendant's various failures to appear.

B. THE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL WAS NOT VIOLATED.

A criminal defendant may seek relief outside the time for trial court rule and under the constitutional speedy trial provision. *State v. Schmidt*, 30 Wn. App. 887, 897, 639 P.2d 754 (1982). Unlike the rule under CrR 3.3, the constitutional right attaches on the date of arrest or the date of filing of the information, whichever comes first. *State v. Higley*, 78 Wn. App. 172, 184, 902 P.2d 659, *review denied* 128 Wn.2d 1003, 907 P.2d 296 (1995). Such a claim must show not the expiration of a fixed time, but the expiration of a reasonable time. *State v. Higley*, 78 Wn. App. at 185. A reasonable time is determined by a review of all the factors in the particular case -- particularly four factors: the length of delay, the reason for the delay, whether or not the defendant asserted his right to speedy trial, and the existence of any resulting prejudice. *Id.*; *See also Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972).

There was a long delay between arrest (1/21/07) and trial (7/20/11), and it is not disputed that the Defendant repeatedly asserted his right to speedy trial. However, it is the State's position that the most important *Barker v. Wingo* factors in the instant case are *the reason for the delay* and *the lack of prejudice*. The Defendant was the significant reason for the delays.¹ He went back and forth between different lawyers and self-representation, which caused delays. He failed to appear at so many hearings that DPA Jenny advised the court that for the purposes of getting this case to disposition, the Defendant should remain in custody. Adams RP 42. However, the judges continued to release him, balancing his freedom and defense interests with his speedy trial interest.

The Defendant eventually spent more time in custody than the State ever would have requested for a first time DUI. Pelletier RP 239-40. This being the case, any judge would have been inclined to release a defendant on his personal recognizance pending trial. On top of that, the Defendant represented himself, off

¹ While the trial court noted at one hearing (Lang RP 127) that a recent continuance had been due to the unavailability of State's witnesses, the Defendant caused "the bulk of the continuances" (Lang RP 127) and a missing witness justifies an appropriate delay for speedy trial purposes. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. 2182 (.)

and on, and repeatedly asked for release in order to prepare his defense. The superior court judges did not abuse their discretion in weighing the Defendant's freedom interest and his interest in making a proper defense against his speedy trial interest. This is especially true where the delays were of the Defendant's own making and where the state's case was less likely than some other cases to be prejudiced by delay (because the state's witnesses were professional witnesses who could rely on their written reports to refresh their memories).

In discussing the length of the delay, the Defendant states that *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 292, 217 P.3d 768 (2009) determined that an eight-month delay is presumptively prejudicial. Appellant's Brief at 31. This is inaccurate. The court of appeals decision had this holding. *State v. Iniguez*, 143 Wn. App. 845, 859, 180 P.3d 855 (2008) ("We agree with these courts and hold that an eight-month delay is presumptively prejudicial.") (overturning conviction on speedy trial grounds), *reversed by State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 292, 217 P.3d 768 (2009). The Washington Supreme Court reversed on this very issue, rejecting a formulaic presumption of prejudice upon the passing of a certain period of

time. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 292. “[W]hether a delay is presumptively prejudicial is necessarily a fact-specific inquiry dependent on the circumstances of each case.” *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 291. In the end, the court did find the delay in Iniguez’s case to be prejudicial, but only after reviewing relevant factors separate from the mere length of delay. And in the final holding, the court did not find a violation of the speedy trial right. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 295-96.

The *Iniguez* court also considered the defendant’s time in custody, the complexity of the case, and the number of witnesses whose memory could be compromised by delay. The court noted that Iniguez had spent all of the time in custody. *Id.* This was not the case for Mr. Klindworth. In four and a half years, he was in custody for approximately 80 days on this case. Munoz VRP 720. In fact, it was precisely because he was repeatedly released after each arrest on a bench warrant that the Defendant had the ability to constantly miss court dates and create delays in the trial process.

The *Iniguez* court found that the robbery case was not complicated. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 292. Rather, the delay had been caused by a co-defendant case to which the trial was

joined. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 290. Mr. Klindworth's case had no co-defendants, so that, unlike in *Iniguez*, the court's interest in joinder for judicial efficiency was not a factor here. Nor was his case significantly delayed by the unavailability of witnesses. *But see Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S.Ct. 2182 (a missing witness justifies appropriate delay). It is fair to say that the complexity of the case influenced delays. The Defendant eventually faced only misdemeanors. However, a DUI, while less serious in terms of penalty, can still be quite complicated in that it involves various agencies, lab results, and expert witnesses. The Defendant's many, many motions suggest that this was indeed a complicated case. And the time was extremely productive for the Defendant. In the pretrial period, the Defendant managed to persuade the court to suppress all the evidence seized from his car and to dismiss the felony count.

The *Iniguez* court noted that there were many eyewitnesses, and that a delay could result in witnesses becoming unavailable or their memories fading. *Id.* While a delay is more prejudicial to the state in this regard, because the state has the burden of proof, the prejudice was lessened by the fact that the state's witnesses were

professional witnesses of the note-taking variety. In this way, the passage of time was less likely to prejudice memory. While the Defendant claimed that one of his witnesses had died during the pendency of trial, he did not prove McElroy's death and the statement he did provide indicated the witness' testimony would have been inculpatory, not exculpatory. CP 156-57 ("It is obviously only the State that is prejudiced by the loss of Mr. McElroy's testimony.")

The *Iniguez* court noted that the prejudice of delay to a defendant may be pretrial incarceration. *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 295. The Defendant here did not suffer that prejudice, because he was repeatedly released despite the fact that his absences were the most significant cause of delay. In four and a half years, he had spent only eighty days in custody on this matter, spread out over various arrests on bench warrants. Munoz RP 720. Nor can it be said that delay impaired his defense where the delay resulted from his release which was granted specifically in order to allow him to prepare a defense out of custody.

This Court should find no violation of the speedy trial right where the delay was the Defendant's own doing and for the

Defendant's goals of preparing a defense and avoiding unnecessary lengthy pretrial incarceration.

C. THE COURT DID NOT VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE BY FOLLOWING THROUGH WITH A PRETRIAL SCHEDULE FOR HEARING MOTIONS.

The Defendant complains that the trial court denied him the right to challenge the blood evidence by forcing him to proceed with the CrR 3.6 hearing. Appellant's Brief at 35. However, it is clear from the record that the decision to proceed on that day was not the court's, but the Defendant's.

The Defendant had asked to represent himself on March 23, 2010, specifically expecting to argue this motion, and been warned that no continuances would be allowed. The Defendant had delayed the completion of the hearing by absconding for many months. It was then the eve of trial. He was finally present on the date of the scheduled hearing. He was insisting on having the hearing without the assistance of standby counsel. But then at the moment of the hearing, when all parties and the witness were gathered, he demanded a delay (even while insisting that a delay violated his speedy trial right.)

The Defendant's game playing is apparent throughout this long record. The court completed the hearing, which the Defendant had himself insisted on holding that very day. That the Defendant refused to either make a cogent CrR 3.6 argument or to permit a short continuance of the hearing to allow his standby counsel to be present does not give rise to judicial error.

The Defendant relies on *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). There the issue was whether the court had prevented the Defendant from making a defense by refusing to admit evidence of the circumstances surrounding the rape. That is unlike the case here. Mr. Klindworth was not prevented from admitting evidence at trial. In fact, the State presented to the jury the very evidence relevant to the Defendant's complaint, explaining exactly how an extra blood sample had been taken at the Defendant's request, but never picked up by the defense. Munoz RP 896-905, 942-44.

The Defendant's motion was to suppress the State's evidence (or dismiss the State's case) under the theory that the State was under some obligation to look after the Defendant's extra vial. The Defendant was permitted to make the motion. It was

argued in his 2009 brief. He, however, refused to make the oral argument in 2011. The court did not prevent the Defendant from making his motion or arguing his claim before the jury.

The Defendant argues that RCW 46.20.308(2) and RCW 46.61.506(6) impose an obligation on the State to pick up the Defendant's extra sample and store it for him until such time as is convenient for him to receive it. Appellant's Brief at 38-39. The statutes cited simply say no such thing.

The court properly ruled that the cause of the loss of the evidence was the Defendant's neglect, not the State's. Munoz RP 741-42. As the State argued in its own responsive briefing, arresting officers are under no obligation to assist a defendant in making an independent test, but are only obliged not to hinder or obstruct the defendant's efforts. *State v. McNichols*, 128 Wn.2d 424, 906 P.2d 329 (1995).

D. TESTIMONY THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT COOPERATE WITH A DUI INTERVIEW DID NOT PREJUDICE THE DEFENDANT.

The Defendant claims that it was improper for the State to elicit evidence of his refusal in a DUI investigation. Appellant's Brief at 40. It is the State's position that in the context of all the

evidence at trial, this single comment could not have prejudiced the result of trial.

The Fifth Amendment prevents the state from commenting on either pre-arrest or post-arrest silence of the defendant so as to infer guilt from a refusal to answer questions. *State v. Clark*, 143 Wn.2d 731, 764, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001). Where a suspect asserts his right to remain silent under Miranda, the State may not use the ensuing silence as substantive evidence of guilt. 12 Wash. Prac. sec. 3325.

The State has the burden of proving beyond reasonable doubt that a comment did not affect the outcome of the trial. *State v. Silva*, 119 Wn. App. 422, 430-31, 80 P.3d 8889 (2003).

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